1992

## Hartwig v. Hartwig : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon the appellate court pursuant to section 78-2a-3, Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

There are three basic issues presented to this court for review. Each issue has a number of sub-issues related and contributing to the main issue involved.

1. What is the appropriate standard for determining visitation when the custodial party relocates out of the State of Utah with the minor children of the parties. Should the court continue to use the actual extended visitation which occurred prior to the move, which was limited by the custodial parent, as a controlling basis or rationale for the visitation awarded after the move? How does one reconcile the differences between the recommendation of the Domestic Relation Commissioner, who has great expertise in this area, and the order of the court which was based upon the history of visitation prior to the relocation out-of-state. Is it in the best interests of the children who are caught up in interstate visitation to split the visitation based on age, which in this case requires that one child be sent home to the custodial parent while the other remains to exercise his full

visitation?

2. The second issue involves all aspects of the interpretation and implementation of an order for reimbursement of work-related day care expenses under §78-45-7.16 and 78-45-7.17, Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended). Does the statute contemplate requiring payment of one-half of the day-care expenses without a requirement of an itemization or accounting of the expenses claimed and without verification that the recipient was actually employed and not on vacation or engaged in some other activity? Does this statute contemplate the full cost of a day-care provider who provides laundry, cleaning, cooking and other household services in the custodial parent's home? Does it require reimbursement for both the day-care provider and concurrent private preschool or school, even though public school is available, where the children are in school, not with the day-care provider, for a good portion of the day?

3. Should the court consider a second employment in setting the amounts to be paid, without any historic basis for that second income?

4. May findings contain matters which were not found by the court pursuant to a review of the transcript and entered over the objection of the other party. The standard of review for this issue is that of "clearly erroneous". *Maughn v. Maughn* 770 P. 2d 156 (Utah App. 1989).



**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES,  
AND RULES**

The following are the citations for the provisions which Defendant believes may be determinative of the issues presented. Each provision, statute or rule is set forth in its entirety in section "C" of the attached addendum.

A. Statutes: Sections 30-3-5; 78-45-7.5; 78-45-7.16; 78-45-7.17; and, 78-45-7.18, Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended).

B. Rules: Rule 52, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

C. Defendant is not aware at this time of any constitutional provisions, ordinances or Utah cases which are dispositive on the issues raised herein.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A. Nature of the case:

Defendant filed a petition for modification of a decree of divorce seeking a change of visitation due to Plaintiff's move to California with the children of the parties. Plaintiff counter-petitioned seeking modification of the amount of day care reimbursement Defendant was required to pay to Plaintiff.

B. Course of proceedings:

The petition and counterpetitions for modification of the decree of divorce filed in this matter came on for trial on April

2, 1992, after having been before a domestic relations commissioner for a pretrial and after a pretrial before the trial judge.

C. Disposition at trial court:

An order modifying the decree of divorce was entered June 30, 1992, in the Third Judicial District Court. No motions were made under Rules 50(a) and (b), 52(b), 54(b), or 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The notice of appeal was filed on July 23, 1992. Record at 239. A copy of the order entered is set forth in Addendum "A" attached hereto.

#### RELEVANT FACTS

A decree of divorce was entered by the trial court on August, 22, 1990. Record at 118-129. Plaintiff was awarded custody of the two minor children of the parties subject to Defendant's visitation. Record at 119-121.

Defendant was awarded the following as his extended visitation: i.) Christmas Day from 6:00 PM through December 26th at 8:00 PM; ii.) Prior to the children entering school, two one-week blocks in the summer and once the children reach the age of nine, six weeks in the summer, not to exceed four weeks for one visitation block; iii.) Upon the children entering school one-half of the Christmas break and one month in the summer for two two-week

periods. Record at 119 - 121. In addition to the extended visitation, Defendant was granted reasonable visitation defined as: Alternate weekends from Friday at 6:00 PM to Sunday at 6:00 PM; Alternate holidays; One evening on the off week from 5:30 PM to 8:30 PM; Father's day; and, the afternoon and evening of each child's birthday or one day in the week of that birthday. *Id.*

Defendant fully exercised his rights of visitation. Transcript, at 50. He had the children with him as often as he could, and Plaintiff had him care for the children at additional times. Transcript, at 51, and 57.

At the end of August, 1991, Plaintiff moved to California with the minor children and her new husband. Transcript, at 27 and Record at 145. Her sole reason for the move was to allow her husband to attend school. Transcript, at 28. Record at 157-158.

Prior to this relocation, Plaintiff gave to Defendant notice of her intentions to move to California. Discussions to settle changes to the visitation failed. Record at 149. On August 15, 1991, Defendant filed his petition for modification of the decree of divorce on the issue of visitation. Record at 131-136. Plaintiff was served with process on August 15, 1991. Record at 157-158.

Plaintiff counterclaimed on the issue of the amount of day-care to be reimbursed to her from Defendant. Record at 142-151. Plaintiff alleged that day-care under the statute should include

paying for private preschool and paying for a full-time day care provider who would be present in the home while the minor children were in school. Record at 193-195, 208-209. Transcript at 38.

The claims came on for a pretrial settlement hearing on October 28, 1991, before Commissioner Arnett. Record at 174-175. He recommended the Defendant be granted one-half of the school summer vacation. *Id.* These recommendations were accepted by Defendant, but rejected by Plaintiff. Transcript, at 3 and 24.

The case went to trial on April 2, 1992. Record at 207. The court received and utilized information of Defendant's second employment, a fledgling solo legal practice, without historical review of Defendant's actual income, determined based thereon that Defendant was capable of paying more, and based the award of day-care thereon. Transcript, at 13 and 78. The court found it reasonable that Defendant reimburse total day-care expenses which included housekeeping services in Plaintiff's home, i.e., including doing the children's laundry, cleaning the children's rooms, preparing the children's meals and cleaning up after them, staying in the home while the children were in school and being on call; and that the day-care reimbursement should be at a flat rate without any proof as to utilization of the day care in a work-related manner. Transcript, at 77 - 79. Further, the court

found that Plaintiff may continue the five year old child in private preschool or private school, with one-half of the expense of both school and a full-time day care provider being charged to Defendant as work related day-care while the day-care provider remains alone at the Plaintiff's home during school hours. Transcript at 80 - 82. The costs of private school were to be charged to Defendant on an order to show cause without a full hearing on any allegations raised by Plaintiff in support of her position. Transcript, at 81 - 82. The result of this is the shifting of the burden of proof onto the Defendant to rebut the schooling. The judge indicated that it was her personal opinion that it is reasonable to split the children up for visitation purposes during the two years while the transition from age seven to age nine occurs for the younger child, despite both parties indicating that the children should be treated equally. Transcript, at 52 and 73.

The findings presented by Plaintiff and signed by the court contained a number of additional matters which were not found by the court as a review of the transcript shows. Record at 211 - 213. These findings and the order based there on were entered over the objection of Defendant. Record at 216 -217. This appeal was filed on those findings and order.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The trial court, in limiting extended visitation, abused its discretion in light of the standardized visitation schedule in effect and the nature of the changed circumstances. It is an abuse of discretion to require siblings to be split up for any portion of the extended visitation.

In arriving at its findings, the trial court erred in hearing or considering any actual extended visitation which occurred prior to the change in circumstance, as the parties had been divorced for only one year prior to the change and as Plaintiff, the custodial parent, controlled any other visitation than that which was ordered prior to the change.

II. The trial court committed reversible error in its award of day care and in the findings supportive of that award.

A. The provisions of 78-45-7.16 and -7.17, Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended) should control any order of day care reimbursement. It was an abuse of the court's powers to set a flat fee without the requirement of documentation contemplated by those statutes particularly in light of the facts that the day care provider is performing service to Plaintiff other than day care and that the children are absent for significant periods of time during the day.

B. "Reasonable day care" (emphasis added) requires that

the court consider all factors including the necessity of the expense of private school; it was error for the court to award the amount of day care which it did, It was further error to speculate regarding future secondary income in that award without a proven history of that secondary income.

C. The Plaintiff should be required to substantiate the use of the day care provider for work-related purposes in order to obtain reimbursement from Defendant to alleviate abuses which have occurred in the past and to insure that the expenses truly are work-related.

III. It is clearly erroneous for a trial court to sign and enter findings of fact which do not comport with the oral pronouncement of its finding as reflected by the transcript particularly when an objection is filed addressing those errors.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING LIMITED VISITATION, IN SPLITTING UP THE CHILDREN FOR VISITATION AND IN USING THE VISITATION WHICH ACTUALLY OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES AS THE BASIS FOR THE AWARD UNDER THE MODIFICATION.

The trial court retains jurisdiction over this matter and has the power to modify a decree of divorce upon a showing of a substantial change in circumstances. *Walton v. Walton*, 814 P. 2d 619, 621 (Utah App. 1991). See also, *Maughn v. Maughn*, 770 P. 2d 156, 159 (Utah App. 1989) and § 30-3-5, Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended). This is true even though Plaintiff, during the proceedings below, relocated to California with the minor children of the parties. *Curtis v. Curtis*, 789 P. 2d 717, 722-725 (Utah App. 1990).

Defendant has located no Utah cases directly on point on the issue of modification of visitation orders based upon relocation of the parties. Therefore Defendant is unable to cite the exact standard of review for this court. The above cited Utah cases involve custody issues and are concerned with the "ping-pong" effect that changes of custody can create. See, *Maughn*, 770 P. 2d at 159-161. The standard applied there was the abuse of discretion or manifest injustice. *Id.* As the need to protect the children from the "ping-pong" effect and the attendant need



to protect the children is not present in this case, a lower standard of review of the trial court would be appropriate.

There has been a material change of circumstances in this case. Plaintiff, who has custody of the minor children of the parties, moved to California with those children. This was done solely to allow Plaintiff's new husband to attend school, and not for any reason beneficial to Plaintiff or the minor children. The net effect is a substantial decrease in the amount of visitation which Defendant could have with the children, thereby depriving him of meaningful contact with the children.

*Creech v. Creech*, 367 So. 2d 1244 (La. App., 1979) deals directly with modifying a divorce decree on the issue of visitation due to the noncustodial parent's relocation from Louisiana to Mexico. The virtual inability to exercise the decreed visitation was recognized and the court found it appropriate to substantially change the visitation award. *Creech* 367 So. 2d at 1246.

In *Creech*, the father, the noncustodial parent, was originally granted visitation rights of one weekend per month, the last week in December and two weeks in the summer. *Id.* This comes out to about forty-five days of visitation a year.

The trial court in that case found that "the best interest of the children would be served and fairness would prevail upon

the part of all parties if a summer visitation period was increased from two weeks to five weeks ... .' By enabling meaningful visitation with their father, this arrangement could be more beneficial to the children." *Id.* This finding was affirmed by the Louisiana court of appeals. *Id.* The net effect of this finding was that the father ended up with forty-two days of visitation a year. He only lost three days of visitation per year.

In the instant case, Defendant was previously awarded reasonable visitation which amounted to eighty-seven days per year. Under the order being appealed, Defendant has thirty-five days of visitation per year. Under that order, visitation will, in three years, increase to forty-nine days of visitation. This is a truly significant decrease.

Plaintiff was questioned about concerns other than those arising from the reasons for the divorce. Transcript at 54, and 57 - 58. She did not provide any other concerns. In fact she admitted at that point that the parties did not have blocks of time in which Defendant could visit with the children the summer before the move to California. Transcript at 57. She stated, that Defendant was limited to the time Plaintiff would allow before that move. *Id.*

Defendant asserts that the doctrine of *res judicata* applies in this matter and that all of the alleged problems and concerns

raised by Plaintiff concerning conduct prior to the entry of the decree of divorce have been adjudicated. We do not have the concerns raised in *Maughn* concerning the basis of the initial determination. *Maughn* 770 P. 2d at 160. Therefore all of the Plaintiff's worries and concerns about the conduct of the Defendant prior to the entry of divorce decree were improperly before the court. Those concerns did not prevent Plaintiff from stipulating to the visitation described above at the time divorce case was entered. Yet within just days over a year after the decree of divorce was entered, Plaintiff moved to California and asserts that Defendant's visitation should be reduced for the same reasons. Transcript at 58.

In deciding the visitation issue, the court mentioned concern about the ages of the children a number of times. Transcript at 71 - 71. The children were five and seven at the time of the hearing. Transcript at 71. The standardized visitation schedule in effect at the time of the trial specified a four week block of time for visitation for in-state parties. (No standardized visitation schedule was in effect at the time of the original divorce.) The four week extended standardized visitation begins upon the children entering school. The denial of more than two weeks at any time grants less time than the in-state standardized visitation schedule. Further, the domestic

relations commissioner recommended that Plaintiff be granted one-half of the school summer vacation.

*In re Marriage of Susan Hatzievgenakis and Vassilis Hatzievgenakis*, 434 NW 2d 914 (Iowa App, 1988), provides illumination on this issue. That case involved a divorce rather than modification of a decree. The father was a citizen of Greece while the mother was a U. S. citizen. The child of the parties held a dual citizenship. *In re Hatzievgenakis*, 434 NW 2d at 915. The father maintain a Greek residence and was a Staff Captain on a Greek cruise ship. *In re Hatzievgenakis*, 434 NW 2d at 914 - 915.

The mother raise numerous concerns about the father removing the child from the United States, about how various aspects of Greek society and culture may affect the child, and about the father failing to return the child. *In re Hatzievgenakis*, 434 NW 2d at 916 - 917. The court of appeals allowed extended visitation outside of the United State and the child was only six years of age at the time. *In re Hatzievgenakis*, 434 NW 2d at 915 and 917.

Greece is certainly much farther from Iowa than California is from Utah. Concerns about enforcement of the decree of divorce do not exist, particularly as the Defendant in this matter is a resident of Utah. Hence if a child of six can travel abroad for extended visitation, children of six can travel one hour by air to Utah for extended visitation.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS AWARD OF DAY CARE AND IN ITS FINDINGS SUPPORTING THAT AWARD.

A. THE PROVISIONS OF §78-45-7.16 AND -7.17, UTAH CODE ANNOT. (1989, AS AMENDED) CONTROL THE AWARD OF DAY CARE REIMBURSEMENT, IT WAS IMPROPER FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO SET A FLAT FEE WITHOUT THE REQUIREMENT OF DOCUMENTATION PARTICULARLY IN LIGHT OF THE FACT THAT THE DAY CARE PROVIDER IS PERFORMING ACTIVITIES OTHER THAN DAY CARE AND THAT THE CHILDREN ARE NOT WITH THAT DAY CARE PROVIDER FOR A SIGNIFICANT PERIOD OF TIME DURING THE DAY.

The standard to be applied to this entire issue is in question. No Utah cases have been located on the narrow issue of a modification of a day care award. Plaintiff suggests that §78-45-7.16 and -7.17, Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended), clearly controls and if a standard is required, the "clearly erroneous" standard of review should be utilized.

These statutes concern "reasonable work-related day care costs actually incurred on behalf of the dependent children of the parents...". §78-45-7.16(1) Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended). *See also*, §78-45-7.17 (1), Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended). It is further stated that if the amount ceases to be incurred, payment may be suspended without modifying the prior order of the court. §78-45-7.16(2) Utah Code Annot. (1953, as

amended).

Plaintiff asserted at trial that an in-home day care provider was required for the entire day despite the fact that the minor children were in school for a good portion of the day while Plaintiff was at work.

The statute states that the costs in question be actually incurred on behalf of the children. 78-45-7.16 (1) Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended). The children are deriving no benefit from the day care provider if they are not with that person, as when they are in school. Hence it is violative of the statute to require Defendant to pay for one-half of the costs of a day care provider to simply sit in Plaintiff's home while the children are away from the home.

Plaintiff alleged the need for a contact person for the school in the event of illness or problem with a child as justification for the day care provider sitting at home while the children are in school. Plaintiff is remarried and has asserted that her new husband be treated as an appropriate provider for the children. See, Plaintiff's counterclaim at ¶¶2d, 3g. Record at 146 and 148 respectively. This means that Plaintiff has herself and her new husband as contact people with the children's school in the event of a problem. The possibility of having to leave employment due to a problem with a child at school is

simply part of being a parent whether divorced or not.

Until the children are essentially emancipated there is always a potential need for someone to be "on call" should problems arise at school. At what age does this day care obligation terminate?

Day care under Utah's statutes appears to consist of taking care of the children themselves. It should be reduced as the children enter school and eventually terminate as the children get older, and so the trial court found. Transcript at 78. Therefore to be ordered to pay for "on call" goes well beyond the scope of these statutes and contrary to the court's own findings. Furthermore, while in California, and until just prior to trial, Plaintiff utilized a day care provider just after school, Transcript at 45. She did not historically have someone "on call".

Plaintiff also admitted that the day care provider performed various household chores and that Plaintiff pays her no more for those duties. Transcript at 39-40. When the children are home, the day care provider, while performing these chores, is again unavailable to give the children her attention and attend to them. When the children are not at home, the day care provider is, in essence, a house keeper for Plaintiff or caring for another child of Plaintiff's who is not part of this action.

The court, in addition to allowing the "on call" nature of this matter also found that it was reasonable to require Defend-

ant to pay for one-half of private preschool for one of the children and that the cost of the private preschool, \$655 per month, was reasonable. Transcript at 75 and 78. Not only is Defendant required to pay one-half of the expenses for an "on call" person but also one-half of the private schooling for the one child, all purportedly as day care. This has the effect of requiring Defendant to pay twice for day care.

**B. THE DAY CARE EXPENSES MUST BE REASONABLE. IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION TO AWARD AN AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF REASONABLE DAY CARE AND TO CONSIDER ANY SECONDARY INCOME IN THAT AWARD**

The statutes state reasonable day care costs. Defendant asserts that the costs incurred by Plaintiff are not reasonable.

In addition to the above arguments, it must be remembered that Plaintiff did not move to California to advance her career, employment, or to benefit the minor children. She moved solely because her new husband desired to attend school there. Transcript at 28.

In fact, Plaintiff testified that she actually did incur a slight decrease in her personal income as a result of this move, though her family income had increased. Plaintiff also knew that the cost of living would be higher as a result of her choice to please her new husband. Plaintiff's joint income at the time of



trial was substantial in comparison to Defendant's. Transcript at 12, 26, and 48, and Record at 169 - 175. This raised Plaintiff's standard of living to a level at which a housekeeper might be appropriate, but it is not appropriate to Defendant in his circumstances.

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