1992

Lisa Hartwig v. David Hartwig : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

In order to prevail on appeal, Defendant must establish that the Trial Court's Order regarding extended summer visitation is a ruling so outrageous as to constitute an abuse of discretion. Defendant raises a number of bases for his objection to the Court's

ruling; however, the Court's detailed Findings, well supported by the evidence clearly establish that Judge Stirba's ruling is in the children's best interests and should be upheld.

POINT II

Defendant also objects to the Court's ruling that he is responsible for one-half of his children's daycare and preschool expense. Again, this is an issue wherein the Trial Court may exercise considerable discretion. A review of the detailed findings establish the reasonableness of the daycare and preschool costs and the statute dictates that Defendant is responsible for one-half that cost, so long as it is actually incurred.

POINT III

Plaintiff should be awarded her attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §30-3-3 (1953, as amended).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT FAILS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN THE AWARD OF EXTENDED SUMMER VISITATION.

Broad discretion is given to the Trial Court in matters of child custody and visitation and only when the Court's action is flagrantly unjust that it rises to the level of abuse of discretion should this court overrule it. (See Nilson v. Nilson, 652 P.2d 1323 (Utah 1982), Bake v. Bake, 772 P.2d 461 (Utah App. 1989), Maughan v. Maughan, 770 P.2d 156 (Utah App. 1989).

Furthermore, the overriding consideration in all issues of child custody and visitation is the child's best interest.

Walker v. Walker, 707 P.2d 110 (Utah 1985), Hogge v. Hogge, 649 P.2d 751 (Utah 1982). This principle has been codified in Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(4) (1953, as amended) which states, "In determining visitation rights of parents, grandparents, and other relatives, the Court shall consider the welfare of the child." Nonetheless, Defendant seems to take the approach that mathematical precision and the annual number of days of visitation he is entitled to exercise are more appropriate considerations. Defendant's argument is that he should be awarded the same number of days of visitation with his children as in the original Decree of Divorce, regardless of how this affects his children's best interests. Defendant's position fails to acknowledge the primary importance of the children's best interests in determining an appropriate visitation schedule.

Defendant objects to Plaintiff's testimony at trial regarding Defendant's behavior during the marriage. (Tr. at 32, 33 and 54). However, this evidence was not objected to at trial and cannot be objected to for the first time on appeal.

Another basis for Defendant's dissatisfaction with the Trial Court's visitation ruling is because it is not in conformity with the "Standard Visitation Schedule." The "Standard Visitation Schedule" referred to and relied on in Defendant's brief is not law; it is not derived from either statute or case law. It is a schedule defined by the Third District Court Commissioners to assist the Court and parties in outlining a visitation schedule. Defendant has not and cannot present legal authority to support his

position that what he refers to as "Standardized Visitation Schedule" should have any bearing on this case whatsoever.

Defendant also refers to the Court Commissioner's Recommendation at Pre-Trial as a relevant factor this Court should consider. Pursuant to the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Section 4-903, the recommendation of the Commissioner at Pre-Trial is not binding and only a recommendation. Therefore, Defendant's reference to the Recommendation of the Commissioner and his inclusion of the Minute Entry as addendum "B" in his brief should be given little or no weight in the court's review of this appeal. Furthermore, Judge Stirba had the benefit of considering, not only Commissioner Arnett's recommendation, but also the evidence and testimony from the parties themselves in making her Order and Findings of Fact.

Defendant's brief cites a case from Iowa, wherein a father was awarded an unspecified length of extended visitation with a six year old child in Greece. Defendant argues that if a six year old child can travel to Greece, than he should be awarded longer extended visitation with his children, ages 5 and 7, who reside in a neighboring state.

This argument highlights the importance of upholding the discretion of the Court in making custody and visitation determinations. Every child, every custodial parent and every visiting parent and their individual situations are different. Accordingly, there can be no set rule as to what visitation

schedule is appropriate for every 5 and 7 year old child having visitation with their father who lives in another state.

The Trial Court is in the best position to make this determination. The cases cited above outlining the broad discretion of the Trial Court recognize this. In the instant case, the Court appropriately took into consideration the amount of extended visitation Defendant had previously spent with the children, the ability of Defendant to personally spend extended visitation with the children, Defendant's stability in his current marriage and the ages and maturity of the children. These considerations are appropriately reflected in the court's detailed Findings of Fact. All these factors and criteria were considered by the Court in light of the children's best interests. Accordingly, the Court did not abuse its discretion in establishing a summer visitation schedule and its decision should be affirmed.

In addition, Defendant has failed to marshal the evidence in support of the findings in order to attempt to demonstrate that those findings are clearly erroneous. This Court wrote in Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (1991) that, "If the appellant fails to marshall the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's Conclusions of Law and the application of that law in the case."

POINT II

THE CHILD CARE EXPENSE AWARD IS REASONABLE AND APPROPRIATE AND DEFENDANT FAILS TO SHOW THAT THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION OR THAT THE AWARD WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

Defendant admits in his brief that there is no standard of review defined in Utah Case law for appellate review of a child care award, but concedes that the trial court's decision should be given great discretion and overruled only if its ruling is found to be clearly erroneous. (Appellant's brief at p. 18). A review of the court's Findings of Fact indicate that the Trial Court's decision is reasonable and well supported by the evidence.

The Court made detailed Findings on the reasonableness of the child care costs. Those Findings of Fact indicate that the Court took the following factors into consideration:

That \$752.50 per month is a reasonable amount of expense to pay on a monthly basis for in-home child care, especially in light of the duties that were testified to in Court, namely, getting the children ready for school; getting them breakfast; taking the children to school; bringing the children home from school; providing lunch for the child that comes home midday; taking the children to these various activities; and, attending to their laundry. The Court is aware of what laundry the children could generate, and household disarray that they could create, taking care of the home insofar as it relates to the child care. There is not credible evidence otherwise in this Court's view that the daycare expense was in part attributable to other household duties. All the evidence presented to the Court really indicates that the child care provider is, in fact, providing child care and not providing other household duties. Therefore, the Court finds that the child care expense of \$752.50 per month is reasonable and also necessary to provide child care.

Findings at p. 11.

The Court further found "with regard to someone being in the home at times when that child is not at home, the Court finds that there is not anything unusual about that particular practice here, given that fact that person has to be on call in case a child is sick or that provides an opportunity of time in which to take care of other child-related issues at home. The Court does not think that is unreasonable under the circumstances." (Findings at p. 12).

As evidenced by the above Findings, the Court took into consideration all of the facts and circumstances surrounding the daycare issue including Defendant's concern that there would be times when the daycare provider was in the home and the children were not. The Court's detailed Findings support her decision that \$752.50 per month for in-home daycare is reasonable.

Utah Code Ann. Sections 78-45-7.7 (2)(c), 78-45-7.8(5) and 78-45-7.9(6) (1953, as amended) all indicate that the work-related child care expense shall be allocated equally to each parent. As admitted by the Defendant, there is no formula or ratio for the division of child care expenses as they relate to each parent's income; child care costs are simply split between the parties equally, regardless of income. The issue of any consideration of Defendant's second income in arriving at his share or percentage of responsibility for daycare expenses is irrelevant and totally unsupported by the Uniform Civil Liability for Support Act, Utah Code Ann. 78-45-1 et. seq., (1953, as amended).

In response to Defendant's objection to paying a set amount towards daycare each month, the Court's decision to structure the child care award in this manner is supported by its Finding that Plaintiff has had great difficulty in collecting the work-related daycare expenses. (Findings at p. 13). In addition, there was testimony by both parties that there had been numerous accounting problems with daycare expenses in the past. (Tr. p. 9, 41). In addition, there was no dispute that Plaintiff is actually incurring the daycare and Montessori expenses testified to in court of \$1,017.15 per month. Therefore, the Court's order that Defendant pay daycare of a set amount each month, until circumstances change is well supported by the testimony presented, appropriately documented in its Findings of Fact and not unreasonable and certainly not an abuse of discretion or clearly erroneous. Defendant continues to be afforded statutory protection under Utah Code Ann. 78-45-7.16 (1953, as amended) that provides, "If an actual expense included in an amount specified in the order ceases to be incurred, the obligor may suspend making monthly payments of that expense while it is not being incurred without obtaining a modification of the child support order."

Defendant further objects to the Court's order that no ruling was made at this juncture regarding the reasonableness of the youngest child's attendance at Montessori first grade. At the time of trial this child was attending Montessori pre-school with a reasonable monthly expense of \$265 per month. The Court made a Finding that if this child should attend Montessori first grade,

then Defendant's obligation to pay for 1/2 the cost may be brought by Order to Show Cause. In fact, contrary to Defendant's portrayal of this as shifting the burden to him to show the child should continue to attend Montessori, the Court specifically found that if the Plaintiff decides to continue Montessori Plaintiff must "present justification at that time if she feels it appropriate for him to continue to go to a Montessori program and require Defendant to pay one-half of the costs thereof". (Findings at p. 10).

It would be inappropriate for the Court to make a finding one way or the other regarding the reasonableness of the child's attendance at Montessori in the future. The Court's finding that any further dispute regarding Montessori may be brought via Order to Show Cause was an attempt on her part to expedite any hearing on the matter.

Defendant's Objection to the Findings of Fact fails to state any specific disputed language or provision. The Findings were properly reviewed and entered by the judge and should be upheld by this Court.

POINT III

DEFENDANT SHOULD BE AWARDED HER ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS INCURRED BY HER IN THE DEFENSE OF THIS APPEAL.

Section 30-3-3, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) is the statutory basis for an award of attorney's fees in a divorce action. It states that: "The Court may order either party to pay to the clerk a sum or money . . . to enable such party to prosecute or defend the action." Id.

This section has been interpreted to apply to attorney's fees incurred both at the trial and appellate levels. See Dahlberg v. Dahlberg, 77 Utah 157, 292 P. 214 (1930), Carter v. Carter, 584 P.2d 904 (Utah 1978), and Maughan v. Maughan, 770 P.2d 162, (Utah App. 1989).

Clearly, this statute gives the Court the authority to award Plaintiff her attorney's fees to allow her to defend this appeal.

Plaintiff prevailed at the trial level and should Defendant's appeal uphold the Trial Court's decision, she is certainly entitled to a reimbursement from Defendant for the legal fees and expenses she has incurred in defending this action before this Court. Furthermore, Defendant is an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Utah and it is believed that he is doing much, (if not all) of the work on his own appeal. Accordingly, defendant's costs in pursuing this appeal may be much less (or none at all), than the costs Plaintiff has been forced to incur to defend this action.

The Court should award Plaintiff all of her attorney's fees and costs related to defending this appeal and the matter should be remanded to the Trial Court for a determination of the amount of the fees and for entry of an appropriate judgment against Defendant.

CONCLUSION

Defendant has chosen to appeal the Trial Court's decision in two highly discretionary areas: visitation and day care costs.

Defendant alleges that the Court's order of extended summer visitation constitutes an abuse of discretion and that the Court's Finding that Plaintiff's actually incurred daycare costs are reasonable is clearly erroneous. The Trial Court should be afforded great discretion in both areas and the Judge's decision tampered with, only, if her decision is deemed clearly unjust. In this case, the Court heard both party's testify, made detailed Findings, well supported by the evidence and, its decision should be upheld in all respects. Plaintiff should be awarded all her attorney's fees and costs for having to defend this matter.